006-KA-01966-CC

Courtney Hill vs. State of Mississippi

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal. ON THE MERITS

Antwayn Patrick, Esq. Attorney and Counselor at Law 104 West China Street P. O. Box 27 Lexington, MS 39095

Honorable James H. Powell, III. **Holmes County District Attorney** Post Office Box 311 **Durant, MS 39063**

Honorable Jim Hood Attorney General State of Mississippi 450 High Street P. O. Box 220 Jackson, MS 39205-0220

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. THERE WAS JURY MISCONDUCT SO AS TO DEPRIVE THE APPELLANT OF HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY.
- 2. THE MENTIONING OF THE APPELLANT PRIOR BAD ACTS OF THE APPELLANT BY THE STATE WAS SO PREJUDICE TO THE APPELLANT AS TO REQUIRE REVERSAL
- 3. THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE SUSTAINED THE DEFENSE ATTORNEY'S MOTION FOR A CONTINUANCE WHEN HE WAS GIVEN NEW EVIDENCE ON THE DAY OF TRIAL.
- 4. WHETHER THE CUMULATIVE ERRORS IN THIS CASE DENIED APPELLANT HILL A RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Courtney Hill, was indicted on September 5, 2006, by a grand jury in Montgomery County, Mississippi. He was indicted under Mississippi Code Annotated, Section 41-29-115 (A)(a)(4) in connection with the March 8, 2006, sale of crack cocaine. On the 3rd day of October, 2007, Courtney Hill was tried for this crime and on the same day, he was found guilty of the Sale of Cocaine and sentenced to twenty years. After the Verdict, Appellant Hill timely filed and perfected his appeal to this, the Supreme Court of the State of Mississippi.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. Appellant's Account

On October 3, 2007, the Appellant, Courtney Hill, was on trial for the Sale of Cocaine in Montgomery County, Mississippi. The Appellant was indicted forknowingly sell, transfer, distribute or deliver to Kendrick Shelton, a human being, approximately 0.1 grams of a controlled substance, to wit: Cocaine....

On the morning of trial, the State moved to amend the indictment because the State mistakenly indicted the defendant using a different crack cocaine. The State indicted the Appellant on crack cocaine that weighed 0.1 grams instead of the crack cocaine that weighed 0.19. The defense counsel for the Appellant appropriately and timely objected to the amendment arguing that he just received the new lab report five minutes prior to court. The appellant's counsel sought a continuance in this matter to investigate a potential evidentiary problem. Irrespective of the Appellant's counsel's objection, the trial court allowed the amendment and denied the defense counsel's motion for continuance. The trial court's reasoning for sustaining the state's motion to amend

the indictment was that "the changing of the weight is form not substance."

2. Jury Voir Dire

During jury voir dire, Lou Ann Irvin failed to notify the Court that she was the fiancée and had children by a brother of Kendrick Shelton, the star witness in the state's case.

3. Testimony of Deputy David Johnson

David Johnson was the chief deputy in the Montgomery County Sheriff's Department. (T. 45) On direct examination, Deputy Johnson testified that in his investigation from the street, he believed that Courtney Hill was involved in dealing crack. Deputy Johnson used Kenny Shelton as an informant. Deputy Johnson testified that Shelton called the Appellant Hill to make a buy. Appellant Hill later drove up and sold Shelton the rock of crack cocaine and Shelton gave Appellant Hill twenty dollars. Deputy Johnson carried the contraband home and the next morning, place the crack cocaine in the evidence room. (T. 49) Deputy Johnson carried the evidence to the crime lab. Deputy Johnson paid Shelton for his service rendered. (T. 51)

On cross examination, Deputy Johnson was asked how he knew Shelton. (T. 60) Deputy Johnson stated that he has known Shelton for a long time. When asked whether Shelton was a crackhead, Deputy Johnson stated that Shelton is not a crackhead, but an alcoholic.

4. Kendrick Shelton

Kendrick Shelton had known Courtney Hill for 10 to 12 years. (T. 87) The Assistant District Attorney asked Shelton how Shelton knew what Appellant Hill telephone number was and Shelton stated "Because I had purchased crack cocaine from

him before." (T. 87) The defense attorney appropriately objected to the introduction of this very prejudicial testimony. The defense attorney moved for a mistrial. The trial judge attempted to remedy the statement by questioning the jury individually and advise them to disregard the statement. <u>Id.</u> The defense attorney argued that "there is absolutely no way that whatever you say to this jury can ever erase it from their minds that he purchased a crack cocaine from him before." (T. 87-88) The trial judge overruled the defense attorney and questioned the jury individually and all the jurors stated that they can disregard the prejudicial statement. The trial judge told the Assistant District attorney to proceed.

Shelton stated that he called the Appellant and Shelton stated that Appellant Hill sold him a crack cocaine. On cross examination Shelton stated that Deputy Johnson thought that Shelton could help him with the drug trade because Deputy Johnson knew that he (Shelton) used crack before. (T. 93)

Appellant Hill did not testify.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. THERE WAS JURY MISCONDUCT SO AS TO DEPRIVE THE APPELLANT OF HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY.

One of the fundamental hallmarks of our legal system is an accused's right to a fair trial before an impartial jury." <u>Hickson v. State</u>, 707 So.2d 536, 541 (Miss. 1997). It is a right guaranteed by both the federal and the state constitutions. <u>Adams v. State</u>, 72 So.2d 211, 214 (1954). "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State,..." <u>U.S. Constitution Amendment VI</u>. "In all criminal prosecutions the accused shall have a right to...a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury,..." <u>Miss. Const. Art.3 § 26</u>.

"In essence, the right to jury trial guarantees to the criminally accused a fair trial by a panel of impartial, 'indifferent' jurors. The failure to accord an accused a fair hearing violates even the minimal standards of due process. <u>In re Oliver</u>, 333 U.S. 257, 266; <u>Tumey v. Ohio</u>, 273 U.S. 510, 514.

This Court in <u>Seals v. State</u>, 44 So.2d 61 (1950), stated "Under the Constitution of the United States and of this State, accused persons are entitled to a fair and impartial trial. Therefore, a juror cannot under any circumstances serve on a jury where he will not be impartial and will be biased toward one party or the other. <u>Reed v. State</u>, 764 So.2d 496 (Miss.App. 2000). The effect of undisclosed information, such as a prior personal relationship between juror and defendant can be as destructive to a fair trial when it is realized only after the jury is seated as it would be were it to be purposely concealed during voir dire. <u>Burroughs v. State</u>, 767 So.2d 246, 253 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000).

In our present case, one of the jurors, Lou Ann Ervin, is believed to be related to the State's key witness Kenny Shelton. Juror Ervin was the fiancée and had children by the brother of Kenny Shelton, Kendrick Shelton and this information was withheld from the Court and the appellant. This fact alone should be sufficient to warrant a reversal.

2. THE MENTIONING OF THE APPELLANT PRIOR BAD ACTS OF THE APPELLANT BY THE STATE WAS SO PREJUDICE TO THE APPELLANT AS TO REQUIRE REVERSAL

While it is well settled that the admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial judge, her decision may be reversible when there has been an abuse of discretion which results in prejudice to the accused. Bougon v. State, 2004 WL 422610 (Miss. App. 2004). When the natural and probable effect of the improper effect of the improper statement is to create an unjust prejudice against the accused, a reversal is appropriate. Randall v. State, 806 So. 2d 185, 212 (Miss. 2001) Pursuant to M.R.E. 404, this Court has repeatedly held that the admission of evidence of unrelated crimes is reversible error, most recently in Houston v. State, 531 So. 2d 598, 605 (Miss. 1988); Rose v. State, 556 So. 2d 728, 731 (Miss. 1990)

In this present case, the trial court should have sustained the defense attorney Motion for a Mistrial. The prejudicial effect of the mentioning of the Appellant's previous drug sale was so tantamount that dissolve the State's burden of innocent until proven guilty standard. Thus, this Court should reversed and remand for a new trial.

3. THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE SUSTAINED THE DEFENSE ATTORNEY'S MOTION FOR A CONTINUANCE WHEN HE WAS GIVEN NEW EVIDENCE ON THE DAY OF TRIAL.

Where the State is tardy in furnishing discovery which it was obligated to disclose and after an initial objection is made by the defense, the defendant is entitled upon request to a continuance postponement of the proceedings reasonable under the circumstances. <u>Inman v. State</u>, 515 So. 2d 1150, 1153 (Miss. 1987).

In this present case, the Appellant was given new evidence five minutes before trial. This new evidence is a central issue in this case, the crack cocaine that was allegedly was sold. Under the <u>Box</u> standard, the Appellant should have been granted a continuance to investigate fully the reason why there was a mix up of the crack cocaine that was introduced at trial and the crack cocaine that was given during discovery. Since this issue is so essential to this case, a continuance should have been granted. Therefore, since the trial court failed to grant a continuance, this Court should reverse and remand for a new trial.

4. WHETHER THE CUMULATIVE ERRORS IN THIS CASE DENIED APPELLANT HILL A RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL?

When viewed in its entirety, the prejudicial impact of the errors set forth above, Appellant Hill contends that the Court should find that he was denied his right to a fair trial. While "[i]t is true that not one of these errors, when considered separately and apart form the other, is sufficient to justify a reversal of the case, but when they are considered as a whole, it is our view that they resulted in the appellant being denied a fair trial. Hansen v. State, 592 So.2d 114, 142 (Miss. 1991). Given the numerous errors set forth above, this Court should find that the cumulative effect of the trial court's errors resulted in the denial of a fair trial to Appellant Hill.

ARGUMENT

THERE WAS JURY MISCONDUCT SO AS TO DEPRIVE THE APPELLANT OF HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY.

One of the fundamental hallmarks of our legal system is an accused's right to a fair trial before an impartial jury." Hickson v. State, 707 So.2d 536, 541 (Miss. 1997).

The right to a fair trial by an impartial jury is fundamental and essential to our form of government. It is a right guaranteed by both the federal and the state constitutions.

Adams v. State, 72 So.2d 211, 214 (1954). "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State..." U.S. Constitution Amendment VI. "In all criminal prosecutions the accused shall have a right to...a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury,..." Miss. Const. Art.3 § 26.

The right to a trial by an impartial jury lies at the very heart of due process. <u>Irvin v. Dowd</u>, 366 U.S. 717, 721-722, "Our common-law heritage, our Constitution, and our experience in applying that Constitution has committed us irrevocably to the position that the criminal trial has one well-defined purpose—to provide a fair and reliable determination of guilt." <u>Estes v. Texas</u>, 381 U.S. 532, 565, (1965). That purpose simply cannot be achieved if the jury's deliberations are tainted by bias or prejudice. Fairness and reliability are assured only if the verdict is based on calm, reasoned evaluation of the evidence presented at trial. Thus, time and time again, in a broad variety of contexts, the Court has adopted strong measures to protect the right to trial by an impartial jury. <u>Irwin</u>, 366 U.S. at 721.

In <u>Irvin v. Dowd</u>, the Court stated: "In essence, the right to jury trial guarantees to the criminally accused a fair trial by a panel of impartial, 'indifferent' jurors. The

failure to accord an accused a fair hearing violates even the minimal standards of due process. <u>In re Oliver</u>, 333 U.S. 257, 266; <u>Tumey v. Ohio</u>, 273 U.S. 510, 514.

This Court in <u>Seals v. State</u>, 44 So.2d 61 (1950), stated "Under the Constitution of the United States and of this State, accused persons are entitled to a fair and impartial trial. That means fair, unprejudiced, unbiased individual jurors, who are willing to be guided by the testimony given by the witnesses and the law as announced by the Court. <u>Seals</u>, 44 So.2d at 64.

A juror cannot under any circumstances serve on a jury where he will not be impartial and will be biased toward one party or the other. Reed v. State, 764 So.2d 496 (Miss.App. 2000). The effect of undisclosed information, such as a prior personal relationship between juror and defendant can be as destructive to a fair trial when it is realized only after the jury is seated as it would be were it to be purposely concealed during voir dire. Burroughs v. State, 767 So.2d 246, 253 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000).

This Court has held that prejudice to the defendant is presumed in situations such as the one sub judice: following a jury's verdict, where a party shows that a juror withheld substantial information or misrepresented material facts, and where a full and complete response would have provided a valid basis for challenge for cause. This Court will presume prejudice when these situations occur. Hickson, 707 So.2d at 542.

In Odom v. State, 355 So.2d 1381 (Miss. 1978), this Court set out the proper matters to be considered when a defendant claims that he has been denied a fair trial because a juror failed to reveal pertinent information during voir dire. These issues include an analysis of whether (a) the inquiry was relevant, (b) whether it was plain and

unambiguous, and (c) whether the unresponsive juror had substantial knowledge of the information. <u>Id</u>. at 1383; <u>Bell v. State</u>, 835 So.2d 953 (Miss. App. 2003).

In this present case like all other cases, a jury has to be unbiased and the appearance of anything other than a fair jury demands a reversal. The juror in this case failed to notify the Court that she was a close kinship of the State's key witness, Kenny Shelton. Here, Kenny Shelton's brother is name Kendrick Shelton. Kendrick had children by Lou Ann Irvin. Lou Ann Irvin was one of the jurors in this present case.

Just as in Burrough where the Court stated that the effect of undisclosed information can be destructive to a fair trial, this undisclosed information was equally destructive. This Court should presume prejudice. As long held by this Court, it is presumed prejudice when a juror withholds material information from the court. As in this case, the appellant contends, deprived him of a fair and impartial jury, and consequently, he was deprived of the right to a fair trial. Just as in Seales and Reed where this Court stated that a biased juror cannot seat on a jury, it is no doubt that if the information was disclosed, Irvin would not have been on this jury. Irvin sitting on the jury creates an appearance of unfairness which is exactly what this Court sought to prevent. Following precedent and dicta, if there is any belief in the sanctity of the judicial process, it would be destroyed by this Court affirming the verdict. Every accused has a right to a fair trial and an unbiased juror. Based upon the foregoing facts, this Court should reverse and remand the verdict of the trial court. Morever, at a minimum, this Court should remand and request that the trial court conduct a hearing to determine whether the juror is related to the defense counsel and the nature of their relationship.

THE MENTIONING OF THE APPELLANT PRIOR BAD ACTS OF THE APPELLANT BY THE STATE WAS SO PREJUDICE TO THE APPELLANT AS TO REQUIRE REVERSAL

While it is well settled that the admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial judge, her decision may be reversible when there has been an abuse of discretion which results in prejudice to the accused. Bougon v. State, 2004 WL 422610 (Miss. App. 2004). When the natural and probable effect of the improper effect of the improper statement is to create an unjust prejudice against the accused, a reversal is appropriate.

Randall v. State, 806 So. 2d 185, 212 (Miss. 2001) Pursuant to M.R.E. 404, this Court has repeatedly held that the admission of evidence of unrelated crimes is reversible error, most recently in Houston v. State, 531 So. 2d 598, 605 (Miss. 1988); Rose v. State, 556 So. 2d 728, 731 (Miss. 1990)

In this present case, it is not a question that the statement made by Shelton that Appellant Hill sold him crack before was prejudicial. The trial court did not cure the prejudice by asking the jury to disregard or ask them would it prejudice them. Just as in Bourgon and Randall, the improper statement unjustly prejudiced the defendant and this Court ruled a reversal was appropriate. Therefore, since the prior bad acts stated was so prejudicial, this Court should revere and remand for a new trial.

should follow the following procedure, as set out in <u>Box</u>. <u>Box</u>, 437 So. 2d at 23-24.

Failure to follow the Box guidelines is prejudicial error. <u>Darghty v. State</u>, 530 So. 2d 27, 32 (Miss. 1988)

In <u>Inman v. State</u>, the Mississippi Supreme Court noted that there is no hard and fast rule determining how much time is a reasonable time for the defense to assimilate unexpected and previously undisclosed evidence offered by the State. <u>Inman v. State</u>, 515 So. 2d 1150, 1153 (Miss. 1987) Where the State is tardy in furnishing discovery which it was obligated to disclose and after an initial objection is made by the defense, the defendant is entitled upon request to a continuance or postponement of the proceedings reasonable under the circumstances. <u>Inman</u>, 515 So.2d at 1153 (quoting <u>Foster v. State</u>, 484 So. 2d 1009 (Miss.1986) Before this procedure can be followed, it is incumbent upon the defendant to make a timely objection. <u>Nixon v. State</u>, 533 So. 2d 1078, 1090 (Miss. 1987).

In this case, the State produced to the defense attorney the crack cocaine that was allegedly sold to Shelton by Appellant Hill. The defense attorney appropriately objected to the introduction of such evidence or sought a continuance. (T. 2-29). The trial court asked the defense attorney how his defense would change if the trial court amends the indictment. The defense attorney said he did not know since he was given the evidence five minutes before the trial and he has not had time to evaluate the evidence. The trial court failed to follow the Box standards. Just as in <u>Imman and Foster</u>, the Appellant was entitled to a continuance.

Failure to follow the Box standard is prejudicial error. There is a difference between amending the indictment to change the weight of the crack cocaine and

amending the indictment to add a different piece of evidence. The Appellant was entitled to a postponement of the proceedings. Justice so requires. The Appellant was in essence facing thirty years in prison. The Appellant's defense attorney stated on the record that he was not ready to proceed on the new evidence. The justice system does not require the expedition of cases at the expense of the defendant. When it doubt, the continuance should weigh in favor of the defendant and failure to do so should be considered a reversible error. Therefore, since the trial court failed to follow the Box standard, and the failure unjustly prejudiced the Appellant, this case should be reversed and remanded for a new trial.

WHETHER THE CUMULATIVE ERRORS IN THIS CASE DENIED APPELLANT HILL A RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL?

The Court has often ruled that errors in the lower court that do not require reversal standing alone may nonetheless taken cumulative require reversal. <u>Jenkins v. State.</u> 607 So. 2d 1171, 1183-84 (Miss. 1992) When viewed in its entirety, the prejudicial impact of the errors set forth above, it is clear that Appellant Amos was denied his right to a fair trial. While "[i]t is true that not one of these errors, when considered separately and apart form the other, is sufficient to justify a reversal of the case, but when they are considered as a whole, it is our view that they resulted in the appellant being denied a fair trial. <u>Hansen v. State</u>, 592 So.2d 114, 142 (Miss. 1991). Given the numerous errors set forth above, this Court should find that the cumulative effect of the trial court's errors resulted in the denial of a fair trial to Appellant Amos.

CONCLUSION

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