APPELLANT

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

COURTNEY HILL

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MAR 1 8 2008

FILED

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2006-KA-1966-COA

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

BY MR. FRANKLIN: Based upon that, we move for a mistrial. Obviously, evidence of a crime not charged and so prejudicial in the minds of the jurors.

BY MR. PHILLIPS: He said it.

BY THE COURT: I think I can individually question each juror and advise them to disregard this.

BY MR. FRANKLIN: Your Honor, there is absolutely no way that whatever you say to this jury can ever erase it from their minds that he said that he purchased a [rock of] crack cocaine from him before.

BY MR. PHILLIPS: Of course, I don't know if the jury understood that because the testimony's been that he's made other buys. He's made other buys with Mr. Johnson at his house.

BY THE COURT: I'm going to question each juror and have them state whether they can disregard this, and if they can, I think we can proceed and the mistrial will be denied; **but if one juror says this is going to affect them in any way, I will declare a mistrial**.

BY MR. FRANKLIN: Is this en [sic] camera, one on one? I think - - can we sit here and do it with them in open court?

(BENCH CONFERENCE CONCLUDED)

BY THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, that last statement is something that you're to disregard the last question and answer, and I'm going to ask each one of you individually if you will assure me that you will disregard that and not have that influence you or be a factor in your decision.

So on the first row, ma'am will you disregard that?

BY THE JUROR: Yes, sir.

BY THE COURT: And, ma'am, will you?

BY THE JUROR: (Nodding head).

BY THE COURT: And, ma'am, will you?

BY THE JUROR: Yes, sir.

BY THE COURT: Sir, will you?

BY THE JUROR: (Nodding head).

BY THE COURT: And, ma'am, will you?

10

BY THE JUROR: (Nodding head).

BY THE COURT: Sir, will you?

BY THE JUROR: (Nodding head).

BY THE COURT: And, ma'am will you?

BY THE JUROR: (Nodding head).

BY THE COURT: And, ma'am will you?

BY THE JUROR: (Nodding head).

BY THE COURT: Ma'am will you?

BY THE JUROR: (Nodding head).

BY THE COURT: Ma'am will you?

BY THE JUROR: (Nodding head).

BY THE COURT: Ma'am, will you?

BY THE JUROR: (Nodding head).

BY THE COURT: Ma'am, will you?

BY THE JUROR: (Nodding head).

BY THE COURT: Let the record reflect that all 12 jurors have stated affirmatively that they are not going to consider the last question and answer and will not have that be a factor in their determination in rendering a verdict in this case.

You may proceed. (R. 88-89) [emphasis ours]

In addition to the curative action taking place at the time of the testimony concerning an

unrelated crime, Judge Loper, at the close of all the evidence, instructed the jury, both orally and

in writing via jury instruction C-1, as follows:

"You should not speculate as to possible answers to questions which the Court did not require to be answered. Further, you should not draw any inference from the content of those questions. You are to disregard all the evidence which was excluded by the Court from consideration during the course of the trial." (R. 119-20; C.P. at 22)

The circuit judge did not feel this incident warranted a mistrial. (R. 87-88) Neither do we.

No abuse of judicial discretion has been demonstrated because it must be presumed the jury followed the directions of the trial judge to disregard the questionable testimony.

The admonishment to disregard the testimony was definitely in the mix of remedial measures. It was delivered in plain and ordinary English and was succinct and to the point. (R. 88-89)

It is clear to us the admonishment from the circuit judge neutralized, if not cured, any error.

Although trial counsel insisted "there is absolutely no way that whatever you say to this jury can ever erase it from their minds that he said that he purchased a [rock of] crack cocaine from him before," each juror indicated to the court he/she could disregard the last question and the witness's answer. (R. 88-89)

Implicit in defense counsel's motion for a mistrial made at the bench, is counsel's objection and disapproval of the other crime testimony. The trial judge went further than merely sustaining any objection. Following Hill's motion for a mistrial, he instructed the jury to disregard both the question and its answer. Judge Loper then ascertained, on the record, that each juror could do so.

The following rules apply here.

"Absent unusual circumstances, where objection is sustained to improper questioning or testimony, and the jury is admonished to disregard the question or testimony, we will not find error." Wright v. State, 540 So.2d 1, 4 (Miss. 1989). *See* Wheeler v. State, 826 So.2d 731, 740-41 (Miss. 2002); Strahan v. State, 729 So.2d 800, 808 (Miss. 1998); Dennis v. State, 555 So.2d 679, 682-83 (Miss. 1989), and the cases cited therein; Marks v. State, 532 So.2d 976, 982 (Miss. 1988). *See* *also* Madere v. State, 794 So.2d 200, 217 (Miss. 2001) [If sustaining objection alone is considered inadequate to remove alleged prejudicial effect of objected to testimony from the minds of the jury, the court must be requested to instruct the jury to disregard the objectionable matter.]; Allen v. State, 826 So.2d 756 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002); Lewis v. State, 814 So.2d 819 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002) [When an objection is sustained and the jury is admonished to disregard the objectionable testimony, no prejudicial error results.]; Pearson v. State, 790 So.2d 879 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001) [Error cured via judicial admonishment].

This is especially true where, as in the case at bar, the jury, at the close of all the evidence, was re-admonished in a written jury instruction which was also read by the judge to the jury as follows: "You are to disregard all evidence which was excluded by the Court from consideration during the course of the trial." (R. 119-20)

Hill, of course, argues the action of the trial judge was insufficient to remove the taint, i.e., the stink still lingered. (Appellant's Brief on the Merits at 6) The "skunk in the jury box" argument has been made and rejected time and again. It must be presumed the prompt action of the trial judge neutralized, if not removed, the odor created by an inadvertent error.

"The rule is well established that when an isolated prejudicial question or comment by the prosecution [or a witness] is promptly objected to and the objection is sustained, and particularly when the circuit judge instructs the jury to disregard the incident, there is a presumption the action on the part of the trial court cured the error." **King v. State**, 580 So.2d 1182, 1189 (Miss. 1991); **Smith v. State**, 530 So.2d 155, 161 (Miss. 1988).

This Court has repeatedly held that when a trial court instructs the jury, it is presumed the jurors follow his direction. Moore v. State, 787 So.2d 1282 (Miss. 2001); Puckett v. State, 737

13

So.2d 322 (Miss. 1999); Hobson v. State, 730 So.2d 20 (Miss. 1998); Crenshaw v. State, 520 So.2d 131 (Miss. 1988); McFee v. State, 511 So.2d 130 (Miss. 1987); Johnson v. State, 475 So.2d 1136 (Miss. 1985); Wilson v. State, 797 So.2d 277 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001) [Jury is presumed to have followed the admonition of the trial judge to disregard an objectionable remark made during trial by either the prosecutor or a witness.]; Pearson v. State, 790 So.2d 879 (Ct.App.Miss) [It is presumed that admonishments to the jury concerning improper remarks from a state's witness eradicate the prejudicial effect from the minds of the jurors.]

Stated differently, "[a]ppellate courts assume that juries follow the instructions." Clemons v. State, 535 So.2d 1354, 1361 (Miss. 1988). "Our law presumes the jury does as it is told." Williams v. State, 512 So.2d 666, 671 (Miss. 1987). "To presume otherwise would be to render the jury system inoperable." Johnson v. State, *supra*, 475 So.2d at 1142.

Finally "[w]hether to declare a mistrial is committed to the sound discretion of the trial court." Johnson v. State, 666 So.2d 784, 794 (Miss. 1995), citing Brent v. State, 632 So.2d 936, 941 (Miss. 1994). See also Hoops v. State, 681 So.2d 521 (Miss. 1996); Horne v. State, 487 So.2d 213, 215-15 (Miss. 1986). "The failure of the court to grant a motion for mistrial will not be overturned on appeal unless the trial court abused its [judicial] discretion." Bass v. State, 597 So.2d 182, 191 (Miss. 1992).

We find in **Hampton v. State**, 910 So.2d 651 (¶9) (Ct.App.Miss. 2005), the following language summarizing our position:

The authority to declare a mistrial is left largely to the sound discretion of the trial court. *Pulphus v. State*, 782 So.2d 1220 (¶10) (Miss. 2001). Within this authority is the discretion to determine whether the objectionable comment is so prejudicial that a mistrial should be declared. *Edmond v. State*, 312 So.2d 702, 706 (Miss. 1975). Furthermore,

when the trial court instructs the jury, we must assume that the panel followed the instruction. *Puckett v. State*, 737 So.2d 322 ($\P72$) (Miss. 1999). In this case the trial court decided to eliminate all of White's testimony since White had only testified as to his pursuit and arrest of Hampton. The trial court admonished the jury to disregard White's testimony, and we find no abuse of discretion in doing so.

See also Wright v. State, 958 So.2d 158 (Miss. 2007), reh denied [Whether to declare a

mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial judge]; Washington v. State, 957 So.2d

426 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007) [Appellate courts assume that juries follow the instructions of the

trial court.]

No abuse of judicial discretion has been demonstrated by Hill.

3.

HILL DID NOT SEEK A NEW TRIAL. THE DENIAL OF A CONTINUANCE IS NOT SUBJECT TO APPELLATE REVIEW BECAUSE SUCH WAS NOT ASSIGNED AS A GROUND FOR A NEW TRIAL.

IN ANY EVENT, THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HIS JUDICIAL DISCRETION IN DENYING A CONTINUANCE.

Hill claims the State was tardy with discovery and that "[u]nder the Box [v. State, 437 So.2d 19, 21 (Miss. 1983)] standard, the Appellant should have been granted a continuance to investigate fully the reason why there was a mix up of the crack cocaine that was introduced at trial and the crack cocaine that was given during discovery." (Appellant's Brief on the Merits at 7)

It seems the State gave Hill's lawyer the wrong laboratory report, not the cocaine itself, during discovery. This report reflected a prior sale by Hill of .10 grams of crack cocaine base to another informant. Hill was not indicted for this prior sale; rather, he was

indicted for the subsequent sale of .19 grams of cocaine base to Shelton. The prosecution did not change the evidence by substituting a different rock from that identified in the indictment; rather, it simply gave Hill's lawyer the wrong report. *See* State's exhibits 1 and 2.

Hill objected to the amendment of the indictment to reflect the true weight or quantity of .19 grams (R. 2-3) and requested a continuance " \dots so that we could further look into this matter because it is delicate, as the Court says, as to how we should use it."

(R. 21)

The motion for a continuance was implicitly overruled, and the amendment was allowed with the following rhetoric:

BY THE COURT: I want the two copies of the crime lab report to be in the record. And I want a copy of it, both of them, to be provided to the court reporter so that she can make that as an exhibit to this motion.

The Court's of the opinion that the changing of the weight is form and not substance. There's no difference between the sale of .1 grams and .19 grams of cocaine. There's not any difference whatsoever. The weight is surplus in the indictment because it did not even have to be contained in the indictment. And the Court has seen many cases that have been presented to this Court over the course of a number of years that didn't even have the weight in it. So I don't see how the weight has any bearing whatsoever on the charge. The charge was the same whether it was .1 or .19 grams. The Court is satisfied, based on what I have heard, that there were two submissions on two different sales that had been made by Courtney Hill. And simply, the State, when they were providing discovery, provided the discovery in the lab report on the indictment - - I mean, on the case that had not been indicted instead of the one that had been indicted. But the conclusions of the lab analyst are the same on both of them. The only difference at all is the weight of what was sold. And again, the Court does not see that the weight is material in the least bit. So again, I'm allowing the

amendment. (R. 12-14)

* * * * * *

BY THE COURT: Well, no, you still would be in the same problem because the other sale, even if it was indicted. would not be something you'd want in front of the jury I don't think. But I don't see that there's a problem with chain of custody. The chain of custody on the unindicted case is going to be what -- the very same -- it's not changed any. The chain of custody on the indicted case is a direct chain of custody. But I - - you know, I made my ruling and I'm going to allow the amendment of the indictment. I don't see that anything would be changed - the defense would be changed if I continued this case. The defense is going to be either he sold cocaine or he didn't sell cocaine. And the defense is going to be the same whether he sold .19 grams or .10 grams. So I'm going to write in a 9 on the indictment and allow that to stand as an amendment and we'll proceed. (R. 24-25) [emphasis ours]

The specific target of Hill's argument on appeal is the denial of a continuance, not

the vitality of the amendment, the chain of custody, or a discovery violation,

Hill contends a continuance should have been granted because he "... was given

new evidence five minutes before trial. (Appellant's Brief on the Merits at 7)

It is well settled that the denial of a continuance is not an issue capable of being

reviewed on appeal where, as here, the denial of the continuance is not assigned as a ground

for a new trial in a defendant's post-trial motion for a new trial.

Insofar as this record reflects, there was no motion for a new trial, either *ore tenus* or in writing post-verdict.

On motion for a new trial, certain errors must be brought to the attention of the circuit judge so that he may have the opportunity to pass upon their validity before the Supreme Court, a reviewing tribunal, is called upon to review them. **Shelton v. State, 853**

So.2d 1171, 1182 (Miss. 2003), citing Metcalf v. State, 629 So.2d 558 (Miss. 1993), and Farris v. State, 764 So.2d 411, 423 (Miss. 2000). One of those errors is the denial of a continuance in the trial court which is not reviewable unless the party whose motion for continuance was denied makes a motion for a new trial on this ground.

In Crawford v. State, *supra*, 787 So.2d 1236 (¶25) (Miss. 2001), we find the following language:

The denial of a continuance is not an issue reviewable on appeal where the denial of the continuance is not assigned as a ground for a new trial in the defendant's post-trial motion for a new trial. On motion for a new trial, "certain errors must be brought to the attention of the trial judge so that he may have an opportunity to pass upon their validity before this court is called upon to review them." Metcalf v. State, 629 So.2d 558, 561-562 (Miss. 1993) (citing Weyen v. Weyen, 165 Miss. 257, 139 So. 608 (1932)) "For example, the denial of a continuance in the trial court is not reviewable unless the party whose motion for continuance was denied makes a motion for a new trial on this ground." Metcalf at 562 (citations omitted). See also Morgan v. State, 741 So.2d 246, 255 (Miss. 1999); Jackson v. State, 423 So.2d 129 (Miss. 1982); Colson v. Sims, 220 So.2d 345, 347 n. 1 (Miss. 1969).

We go no further than the following language found in Pool v. State, 483 So.2d 331,

336 (Miss. 1986), which is also dispositive of Hill's complaint:

Finally, Pool is procedurally barred from raising this issue on appeal, as it was not listed as grounds in his motion for a new trial.

The denial of a continuance in the trial court is not reviewable unless the party whose motion for continuance was denied makes a motion for a new trial on this ground, making the necessary proof to substantiate the motion.

Colson v. Sims, 220 So.2d 345, 347, n. 1 (Miss. 1969); see

also Jackson v. State, 423 So.2d 129 (Miss. 1982).

See also Morgan v. State, 741 So.2d 246, 255 (Miss. 1999)["Morgan's motion for new trial and for judgment notwithstanding the verdict made no mention of the denial of a continuance. Because the issue was not properly preserved, and because the trial court did not have the opportunity to rule on this claimed error, this issue is not properly before this Court and is procedurally barred."]; **Reeves v. State**, 825 So.2d 77 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002)[Denial of a continuance in the trial court is not reviewable in the appellate court unless the party whose motion for a continuance was denied makes a motion for a new trial on this ground.]

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